Michelle DeKennedy v. Polar Roller Express


[image: image1.png]


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	MICHELLE DE KENNEDY, 

                                                  Employee,

                                                         Claimant, 

                                                  v.                                                                                                   

POLAR ROLLER EXPRESS,

                                                  Employer,

                          and

INSURANCE CO. OF STATE PA.,

                                                 Insurer,

                                                        Defendants.                                                
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)
	          INTERLOCUTORY

          DECISION AND ORDER 

        AWCB Cases No. 200018455M   and

                                No. 200302537

        AWCB Decision No. 03- 0220

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         September 10, 2003


On May 6, 2003, in Juneau, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s Workers’ Compensation Claim Nos. 200018455 and 200302537 seeking temporary total disability (TTD) benefits, permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits, medical expenses, rehabilitation benefits, and attorney’s fees and cost.  At hearing, the parties stipulated to consolidate the employee’s Claim No. 200018455 with Claim No  200302537.  Claim No. 200302537 was filed March 10, 2003 seeking benefits associated with the employee’s cervical spine condition (cervical claim).  The employee’s cervical claim, if compensable would arise from the same facts and circumstances as her original claim, Claim No. 200018455.  Attorney Michael J. Patterson represented the employee.  Attorney Shelby Nuenke-Davison represented the employer and its adjuster (employer).  The Board consisted of a two-member panel, which constitutes a quorum.  AS 23.30.005(f).  

The record remained open to receive, additional evidence and closing briefs. We closed the record on June 17, 2003.  On July 9, 2003, the employee petitioned the Board to reopen the record to receive evidence obtained after the May 6, 2003 hearing and order a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  The Board issued its Interlocutory Decision and Order, AWCB Decision No. 03-0163 (July 16, 2003) reopening the record for the limited purpose of taking written argument on the employee’s petition.  We again closed the record at our next regularly scheduled hearing date, August 12, 2003.

ISSUES

Shall the Board re-open the record to receive additional evidence and order a second SIME?  
Is the employee’s March 10, 2003 Workers’ Compensation Claim, AWCB Case No. 200302537 time barred under AS 23.30.100?
Is the employee’s March 10, 2003 Workers’ Compensation Claim, AWCB Case No. 200302537 seeking benefits for her neck and shoulder, compensable?

Is the employee entitled to medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a)?

Is the employee entitled to TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185?

Is the employee entitled to PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190?

Is the employee entitled to reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041?

Is the employee entitled to interest and penalties under penalties and interest under AS 23.30.155 and 8 AAC 45.142?
Is the employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs Is the employee entitled to a reasonable attorney fee and legal costs under AS 23.30.145(b)?

SUMMARY OF THE RELEVANT EVIDENCE

I. The Accident


The employee, a 51-year-old female, suffered a work-related injury on August 12, 2000, when a tractor-trailer she was riding in rolled over trapping her in the sleeping compartment.  She was working as a team driver with Jim Nelson. The accident occurred on a rural stretch of road while Mr. Nelson was driving.


The employee was in the sleeping compartment when she felt the back of the tractor lift off the ground and go back down. (See DeKennedy Dep. at 36 - 38).  Mr. Nelson put on the break and the back of the tractor was lifted up off the ground.  It was at this moment that the employee realized the vehicle was going to tip over.  Id.  When the tractor-trailer came to a stop, she was upside-down against the roof of the sleeping compartment trapped underneath the refrigerator and some cupboards.  Id.  Mr. Nelson was unable to free the employee on his own.  Eventually a passerby assisted Mr. Nelson and they were able to remove the employee from the wreckage.  

II. Medical Treatment


Both the employee and Mr. Nelson were taken to the local emergency facility.  Emergency room physician, G. Gibson, M.D, treated the employee.  Dr. Gibson noted the employee had a hematoma over her sacrum and contusions to her right thigh, right foot, right elbow, left elbow, and right shoulder. (See August 12, 2000 Stewart Hospital Records).  An x-ray of her right foot revealed no fracture or other bony abnormality.  Id.  The employee and Mr. Nelson were released from the hospital.  The employer arranged for the employee’s transportation back to Whitehorse, Yukon Territory where she picked up her personal vehicle and drove herself to Seattle.


On August 22, 2000, Kurt R. Billett, M.D., at the Lakeshore Medical Clinic in Kirkland, Washington, treated the employee. The employee complained of pain in her right shoulder.  Dr. Billett diagnosed the employee with a partial strain of the suprasinatus tendon of right shoulder with some tendinitis
 and would not release her to return to work while she was symptomatic.  (August 22, 2000 Dr. Billett Chart Note and Letter).  He attributed the employee’s condition to the tractor rollover accident and recommended further evaluation to rule out a torn rotator cuff.  Id.  


The employee returned to Whitehorse.  Medical records reflect that the employee received no further treatment until October 12, 2000 when H. Hamandi, M.D., at the Branigan Clinic in Whitehorse, examined her.  Dr Hamandi remarked that the employee was suffering from a rotator cuff injury and bursitis. (October 13, 2000 Dr. Hamandi Medical Off Work Slip).  He recommended she not drive or use her right shoulder.  He also suggested that the employee undergo physiotherapy.  Id.  Dr. Hamandi anticipated the employee could return to work by October 27, 2000.  Id.



On October 31, 2000, the employee was examined by John P. Bursell, M.D.,
 in Juneau, Alaska.  His chart note reflects that the employee’s primary complaint was right shoulder pain at night while trying to sleep and when reaching forward or overhead.  The employee described her pain at night as a constant ache.  The employee denied having experienced any neurologic symptoms such as focal weakness or numbness in her right upper extremity. Upon examination, Dr. Bursell noted "no focal atrophy.  She has reduced internal rotation of the right shoulder... She has a positive painful arc on the right.  Drop sign is positive.  Her right rotator cuff strength is decreased in external rotation with reproduction of her pain symptoms." (October 31, 2000 Dr. Bursell Chart Note). Dr. Bursell diagnosed a probable partial right rotator cuff tear and recommended physical therapy.  Id.

Sharon Buis, P.T., evaluated the employee on October 31, 2000.  Ms. Buis   assessed the employee with a shoulder and scapula strain involving the right bicep, deltoid, and upper scapular muscles.  (October 31, 2000 Buis Initial Evaluation). She also observed that the employee’s right shoulder range of motion and strength were reduced and appeared moderately limited by pain.  Id.



A week later the employee returned to Dr. Bursell complaining that physical therapy increased her shoulder pain. (November 7, 2000 Dr. Bursell Chart Note). Dr. Bursell observed no change in her shoulder and ordered an MRI
.   Id.  The MRI revealed an effusion
 in the subacromial and subdeltoid bursa and glenohemeral joint, degenerative changes in the AC
 joint with some early hypertrophic
 overgrowth and a small joint effusion, but no evidence for rotator cuff tear. (November 7, 2000 William A. Richey, M.D., Radiology Report).   The employee began to see results from her physical therapy and, as a result, Dr. Bursell continued the treatment.  (November 14, 2000 Dr. Bursell Chart Note).  



One week later, the employee again reported to Dr. Bursell that physical therapy increased her pain. (November 21, 2000 Dr. Bursell Chart Note).  The employee was leaving Juneau for Seattle, Washington. Since she was going to Seattle, Dr. Bursell referred her to Stanley A. Herring, M.D., for an evaluation and further work up if necessary.  Id.  In his referral letter, Dr. Bursell referred to the employee as a “pleasant and very motivated patient.” (November 29, 2000 Bursell Letter to Herring).


Dr. Herring examined the employee on January 22, 2001.  In correspondence to Dr. Bursell, Dr. Herring diagnosed the employee with apparent adhesive capsulitis
 of the right shoulder, with the possibility of labral pathology or partial thickness rotator cuff tear in her right shoulder. (January 22, 2001 Herring Letter to Bursell). Dr. Herring repeated an MRI, this time with gadolinium to better define the labrum.  Id.  The MRI with gadolinium was negative for rotator cuff tear, glenoid labral tear or SLAP
 lesion.  However, right subdeltoid bursal fluid was noted along with some mild degenerative change in the AC joint. (January 26, 2001 C. Keith Keyser, M.D., Radiologist Report).


On February 26, 2001, medical records note the employee complained of local discomfort with cervical range of motion.  Some limitation of right shoulder range of motion with adduction and with internal rotation and adduction was also noted, but it appeared to have improved since the last visit.  (February 26, 2001 Hanson/Herring Chart Note).  The employee felt that she had not returned to pre-injury status, but was making improvement.  Id.  On March 23, 2001, upon examination, Dr. Herring found the employee continued to exhibit a loss of range of motion and continuing pain in her right shoulder.  However, he felt she was making progress. (March 23, 2001, Dr. Herring Chart Note).


The employee continued with her physical therapy until June 7, 2001.  During this time she received two subacromial bursal injections, the first on April 6, 2001 and the second on May 8, 2001.  The employee’s range of motion continued to improve but she still had pain and remained off work.  (June 8, 2001 Dr. Herring Chart Note).  Dr. Herring referred her to E. Edward Khalfayan, M.D., a shoulder specialist, for evaluation. 

On June 11, 2001 Dr. Khalfayan examined the employee. Upon examination, he was left with the impression that the employee was suffering from:

Residual impingement and AC arthritis symptoms status pos [sic.] right shoulder injury resulting in adhesive capsulitis which has improved with physical therapy.

 (June 11, 2001 Dr. Khalfayan Chart Note).  Dr. Khalfayan recommended the employee try an AC injection and further evaluation.  She agreed and he performed the injection with a combination of marcaine, xylocaine and dexamethasone. The employee then underwent a crossed arm adduction test, which was negative.  Id.  After the injection, the employee reported that she felt the pain was relieved.  Id.  Her rotator cuff strength improved from a 5- to 5/5.  She was told to ice her shoulder and continue with rotator cuff strengthening exercises. Id.   If the symptoms returned, Dr. Khalfayan thought two or three more injections could be helpful.  Id.  However, he advised that if the pain persisted and was localized to the AC joint, an arthroscopic distal clavicle resection could be of benefit.  

A month later the employee reported she was having difficulty with her range of motion when she attempted to turn her head to the left. (July 14, 2001 SOAP Chart Note).   On July 17, 2001, the employee returned to Dr. Bursell.   He noted that the employee was responding to massage therapy and she might be a candidate for trigger point injections if the muscle pain did not resolve with massage therapy alone. (July 17, 2001, Dr. Bursell Chart Note).  The employee continued to complain of a lack of range of motion in her neck.  (July 23 and 27, 2001 SOAP Chart Notes).

1.  One Year Post Accident
On August 24, 2001, the employee underwent an employer’s medical examination (EME).  Anthony Woodward, M.D., Orthopedic Surgeon performed the EME.  His August 24, 2001 EME report identified the employee’s chief complaint as “right shoulder pain.”  He described her symptoms as:

Sometimes the pain is anteriorly, sometime around the sternoclavicular joint, sometimes in the clavicle, sometimes in the upper arm and sometimes in the trapezius . . . The pain is aggravated by vibration and sudden movements, such as throwing or reaching.  She has no symptoms radiating below the elbow.  She has no neck pain.  She sometimes had numbness of the right middle finger, occasionally at the index and little finger.  She has no symptoms in the left upper extremity.

 (August 24, 2001 EME Report at 4, 5).  It was Dr. Woodward’s opinion that the employee’s current complaints were not related to her August 12, 2000 injury but rather from age-related degenerative changes in her shoulder.  (August 24, 2001 EME Report at 8 - 10).  Dr. Woodward opined that if the patient did sustain a shoulder strain then, it would have resolved many months ago. Id.  It was his professional opinion that the employee had reached maximum medical improvement. Moreover, it was his belief that the employee required no further treatment for any work related injury and that she could return to her job at time of injury.  However, he was unable to offer any particular diagnosis. Id. 

The employee returned to Dr. Bursell on September 4, 2001.  His chart note indicated that the employee reported she was improving to the point where she could actually lay on her right side for a while; however, she still had right shoulder pain radiating down her right arm.  On physical examination Dr. Bursell noted that the employee was a little tender over the right AC joint. (September 4, 2001 Dr. Bursell Chart Note).  Right shoulder impingement testing was positive.  Id.  It was Dr. Bursell’s assessment that the employee would not be able to return to her previous job because of its physical requirements.  Id.  The employee was released to modified work  (lifting up to 30-40 pounds with limited overhead right hand activity) and it was recommended that she receive vocational rehabilitation.  Id.
The employer submitted additional questions to its EME physician, Dr. Woodward.  On September 6, 2001, Dr. Woodward produced his first addendum to his EME report.  In the additional questions, the employer asked if he would consider the employee medically stable.  Dr. Woodward relied upon his EME report and reiterated that it was his opinion that the employee was medically stable.  (September 6, 2001 EME Addendum).  The employer also asked Dr. Woodward if the employee had reached pre-injury status in regard to her work related injury.  Dr. Woodward responded that any work related injury to the right shoulder would be resolved.  Id.  Relying upon Dr. Woodward’s EME and addendum, the employer controverted all benefits after September 7, 2001. 

 On September 23, 2001, the massage therapist noted the employee’s muscles in her right back, neck and shoulder were in a state of chronic hypertension.  (September 23, 2001 SOAP Chart). On October 4, 2001, the employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim, Claim No. 200018455, seeking temporary total disability (TTD) benefits, permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits, medical benefits, and vocational rehabilitation benefits. The employer answered on October 29, 2001.   In its Answer, the employer relied upon Dr. Woodward’s EME report and denied all claims except for TTD benefits from August 11, 2000 through September 7, 2001.  

In response to a second set of additional questions posed by the employer, Dr. Woodward produced his second addendum to his EME Report. In his second addendum, Dr. Woodward affirmed that it was his opinion that: 1) there was no causal relationship between the employee’s current condition and her August 12, 2000 accident; 2) the employee’s August 12, 2000 accident can be eliminated as a reasonable possibility/substantial factor in causing the employee’s current condition or in causing a permanent aggravation of a pre-existing condition; and 3) the employee did not suffer a PPI attributable to her August 12, 2000 accident. (November 15, 2001 Second Addendum to EME Report).

The employee returned to Dr. Bursell on December 5, 2002. Dr. Bursell saw the employee.  They discussed her ability to return to work, Dr. Woodward’s EME Report and  two addendums.  Dr. Bursell commented on Dr. Woodward’s EME report:

The evaluator did not feel that her shoulder symptoms are related to her work-related accident in August 2000.  Interestingly, his reasoning is that she was diagnosed with a shoulder strain initially and that should have resolved many months ago and does not seem to take into account the reality that there was no resolution of her symptoms as expected and therefore the initial diagnosis of a simple shoulder strain was most likely inaccurate.  He also felt that she did not seem to have any requirement for restrictions regarding her right shoulder symptoms despite the fact that the patient herself has noted significant physical restrictions.  The reasoning for this really is not spelled out in the evaluation note.

(December 5, 2001 Dr. Bursell Chart Note at 1).   Regarding the EME’s conclusion that the employee should not be eligible for vocational rehabilitation, Dr. Bursell commented:

I have reviewed her job description and I do not think that she will be able to return to work without significant risk of reinjury and I also do not think that she will be able to perform all of the necessary duties because of the shoulder restrictions.  The findings of the independent evaluation by Dr. Woodward are interesting in that they appear clearly directed at attempting to discredit any claim of injury rather than objectively reviewing history and physical examination findings, including patient history.  I think it is (sic) has been clear from the beginning that Ms. DeKennedy has had limitations in her shoulder function following her work injury.  She does have some AC joint degeneration as seen on radiographic workup.  Whether or not this was present prior to her work injury really does not matter as the issue here is the change in function and onset of shoulder pain as a result of the injury.  This shoulder dysfunction and pain was directly related to her work-related accident. Apparently Ms. DeKennedy’s case has been closed by the work comp carrier and she is working to get it reopened.  I think it would make the most sense to do so and proceed with vocational rehabilitation

Id. at 2.

On January 7, 2002, the employer again controverted all benefits.  The employer cited to Dr. Woodward’s conclusion that no further treatment was required due to a work injury, and that the employee could return to work at time of injury with no PPI attributable to the shoulder strain.  Dr. Woodward continued to opine that the shoulder strain was resolved many months ago.  (November 15, 2001 EME Report and Addendums Dated September 6, 2001 and August 24, 2001). 

On January 10, 2002, in response to the employee’s request for an eligibility evaluation for re-employment benefits, the Reemployment Benefits Administrator’s Designee (RBA) determined the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits. The employer timely petitioned for reconsideration of the RBA's decision. It argued that reconsideration was appropriate because the RBA did not consider the employer’s January 7, 2002 Controversion Notice. On January 28, 2002, the RBA reversed her decision and concluded that the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits because her claim was controverted as to course and scope.

A little over one month latter, the employee’s symptoms were still persistent and she noticed no improvement.  (June 13. 2002 Dr. Bursell Chart Note).   Dr. Bursell referred the employee to a work hardening program at Virginia Mason Pain Clinic, under the direction of Andrew Friedman, M.D.  Id.  

2.
Two Years Post Accident
On August 24, 2002, Dr. Woodward conducted a second EME.  In addition to a chief complaint of right shoulder pain, he also identified right thoracic paraspinal pain.  (August 24, 2002 EME Report). Dr. Woodward took issue with Dr. Bursell’s criticism of his first EME report.

Dr. Bursell states, correctly, that the examinee has had persistent symptoms and therefore he disagrees with the initial diagnosis of shoulder strain.  His diagnoses have been impingement syndrome and acromioclavicular joint arthritis.  Neither of these are usually traumatic injuries and there was no evidence of an injury that would cause these conditions, in my view. . . .

Id.  at 2.
Dr. Bursell criticizes my report for 2 reasons: 1) That I report a reduced of internal rotation indicating that there is pathology present.  However, he had previously reported a full range of motion of the shoulder and later on he reported a full range of motion of the shoulder, in my opinion negating that argument.  2) Dr. Bursell reports that the examinee has had persistent pain since the industrial accident.  The first available medical record, which is from Dr. Billet, on October 13, 2000 reports a diagnosis of strain of the right shoulder and it is certainly possible that the examinee sustained a strain of right shoulder in this industrial incident, but strains resolve within several weeks.  Dr. Bursell’s original diagnosis of probable partial tear of the rotator cuff was not confirmed by the MRI study which he ordered.  His later diagnosis of impingement syndrome is consistent with the examinee’s age and expected are-related degeneration of the rotator cuff.  His diagnosis of acromioclavicular joint arthritis is also typically age-related and there is no report of symptoms of the acromioclavicular joint, even as late as Dr. Bursell’s first consultation.

Id.  at 7.  As with his first EME, Dr. Woodward’s second EME report concluded that the employee was suffering from acromioclavicular joint arthritis, which was pre-existing and is attributable to age-related degeneration, not the accident.  Id.  He noted that “there is apparently universal degeneration of the rotator cuff with aging and this can cause symptoms such as shoulder impingement syndrome.  Her MRI was better than many of her age.”  Id.  at 8.  Dr. Woodward declared the employee medically stable and that a work-hardening program was unnecessary.  Id.  

A.  SIME

Marvin Bloom, M.D., an orthopedist, performed an SIME
 on November 5, 2002.  Dr. Bloom examined the employee, films, MRIs and relevant medical records. He concluded that the employee’s symptoms and difficulties with her right shoulder were a direct result of the August 12, 2000 accident.  (November 5, 2002 SIME Report at 11).  His physical exam noted full neck range of motion and no neck pain.  

Dr. Bloom’s objective findings included limited internal rotation to 60° on the right side as compared to 90°on the left.  He also found external rotation at 30° on the right and 40°on the left.  Id.  at 7.  He found tight right wrist dorsiflextion over the last 15°of dosiflexion.  Id.  Additionally Dr. Bloom noted the employee exhibited pain over the right anterior and posterior shoulder as well as tenderness over her right biceps tendon anteriorly.  Id.  at 8.  Pain was also present at her right shoulder when extended, rotated or when her arm was extended against resistance.  

Contrary to the EME’s opinion, Dr. Bloom concluded that the right shoulder and trapezius complaints were attributable “purely to the date of injury” and did not believe the employee had any “significant preexisting condition or preexisting disability until the 8/12/00 injury.”   He also predicted a future impairment, which the EME physician did not. 

The aggravation or acceleration at the shoulder and the injury due to the date of injury episode without a preexisting problem is responsible for what is going to be some temporary and permanent change in shoulder capability on the right. That's even with surgery.

. . . 
There is going to be a limitation due to permanent impairment of the right shoulder with pain and limitation of full motion. 

In concluding his SIME, Dr. Bloom diagnosed the employee with right shoulder tendinitis, including the biceps tendon and rotator cuff; right wrist contusion and sprain with gradual recovery; and noted the wrist extension may be limited due to some damage or irritability at C6 and C7.  Id. at 9, 17.  Dr. Bloom concluded the employee had not reached medical stability because the employee had not had the benefit of full treatment and that there is need for further investigation at the right rotator cuff and possible surgery.  Id.    (October 14, 2002 Dalrymple Letter to Bloom and SIME Report). Regarding the employee’s ability to return to her job at the time of employment, Dr. Bloom, contrary to Dr. Woodward’s assessment, opined that the employee could not work as a truck driver without any limitations or restrictions due to pain in the right shoulder.  Id. at 12.  

B.  Post SIME

On December 27, 2002, the employee returned to Dr. Herring who observed, “significantly improved internal rotation.”  Dr. Bursell reviewed several images
 and noted multilevel degenerative changes and spurring at C4-5, C5-6, and C6-7.  The images also revealed spurring and narrowing on the right side at C5, C6, and C7.  It was noted that on the left side there was narrowing at C4 and some narrowing of the neuroforamina at C5, C6, and C7.   (December 27, 2003 Bursell Chart Note).

Dr. Herring referred the employee back to Dr. Khalfayan for further examination.  Dr. Khalfayan examined the employee on January 29, 2003.   He agreed with Dr. Herring that the employee required further evaluation of her cervical spine consisting of a cervical MRI and an EMG. (January 29, 2003 Khalfayan Chart Note).  He disagreed with Dr. Bloom regarding whether the employee would benefit from shoulder surgery.  Dr. Kahlfayan recommend against surgery because it was his opinion that the employee did not have any intrinsic shoulder pathology that would benefit from operative intervention.  Id. 

The employee underwent a cervical spine MRI on January 29, 2003. The MRI revealed the employee had significant cervical spondylosis
 at C5-6 with spinal cord compression, left greater than right.  There was also significant right foraminal stenosis.
 At C6-7 there was an osteophyte
 that causes mild narrowing of the sac and moderate bilateral foraminal narrowing.  (January 29, 2003 Brent O. Kjos, M.D, Report). The EMG results were normal with no  “electrodiagnostic evidence of right upper extremity radiculapathy. . . .”  (February 5, 2003 Christopher J. Standaert, M.D., Report).

Dr. Herring next referred the employee to Jayashree Srinivasan, M.D., a specialist in neurological and cerebrovascular surgery. Dr. Srinivasan examined the employee and reviewed her January 29, 2003 MRI.  Dr. Srinivasan concluded:

I do believe this patient has significant cervical spondylosis which may have become symptomatic as a result of the 8/2000 injury. Both the degree of spinal cord compression and the duration of symptoms indicate that surgical intervention is the most appropriate treatment. I have recommended a C5-6 and C6-7 anterior cervical discectomy and fusion with allograft and anterior cervical plate.. . . I have also counseled her that some degree of her right shoulder pain may be related to an intrinsic shoulder problem and not related to her neck.  I have counseled her that the goal of surgery in her neck is to prevent any further injury although it is likely that she will have some improvement in her current symptoms.

(February 10, 2003 Srinivasan Letter to Herring/Chart Note at 2).  


On February 25, 2003, the employer controverted all benefits related to the employee’s neck stating, 

This alleged neck injury was not reported by the employee on the Report of Injury and thus is barred under AS 23.30.100.  Further, there are no medical records from 8/12/00 through December of 2003 from the treating physicians that reveal any neck complaints as a result of the 8/12/00 work incident.

In response, on March 10, 2003 the employee filed her second Workers’ Compensation Claim, Case No. 200302537, for benefits associated with her cervical spine injury, which she related to the August 12, 2000 work injury.  


By letter dated March 12, 2003 the employer asked Dr. Bursell if he agreed or disagreed with the following statements:

1.  You believe the diagnosis for Ms. DeKennedy's injury arising out of the August 12, 2000, injury was AC joint arthritis, RC impingement, and tendinitis....

2.  You further stated that it was your opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Ms. DeKennedy was medically stable as of June 13, 2002, from the facts of her August 12, 2000 injury....

3.  You indicated that based upon Dr. Khalfayan's January 29, 2003, chart Notes, you agree that no surgery on the shoulder is warranted …. 

4.  You also stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that based upon your review of the SCODDOT for truck driver, you felt Ms. DeKennedy could return to that job as there was no mention within the SCODDOT of any overhead lifting, which would be your only limitation placed on Ms. DeKennedy....

 After each question Dr. Bursell could check a box indicating if he agreed or disagreed. All boxes were checked yes. 


On March 22, 2003 the employee underwent a panel EME.  The panel consisted of Dr. Woodward and Lynne Adams Bell, M.D., PhD.  Drs. Woodward and Bell opined that the employee was: 1)  medically stable, any injuries from the August 12, 2000 accident had fully resolved, 2) could return to her prior work, 3) had no permanent impairment, 4) required no further treatment for any consequence of the August 12, 2000 event, and 5) any existing shoulder problems are age-related. (March 22, 2003 EME Report).  

  Dr. Woodward responded to Dr. Khalfayan’s June 11, 2001 finding of acromioclaviular joint tenderness stating: 

This first report of acromioclavicular joint tenderness on June 11, 2001, cannot therefore reasonably be attributed to an accident almost exactly ten months earlier. 

Id.  at  4.   Dr. Woodward also provided extensive comments on the SIME’s Report: 

I point out that Dr. Bloom makes no diagnosis of acromioclavicular joint disorder including arthritis.  He does not record a sensory examination.  There is no hint of a neck problem or a radiculopathy.  His guess that right wrist extension problem is due to a radiculopathy is not confirmed by his normal neurologic examination and as we know right wrist extension is limited by local dorsal wrist pain and not by weakness due to radiculopathy.

Id. at 4, 5.   In response to Dr. Srinivasan’s diagnosis of cervical spondylosis, Dr. Woodward responded:
Her diagnosis is, cervical spondylosis, that is arthritis of the cervical spine.  She does not apparently attribute this arthritis to the accident but only that the accident might have made the cervical spondylosis ‘become symptomatic.’ However, the only symptom of cervical spondylosis that Dr. Srinivasan records is ‘mild neck pain and restriction of motion’.  As we have seen, full ranges of motion of the neck have been reported on several occasions.  Dr. Srinivasan does not record any abnormal examination of the neck.  Neck pain is a recent symptom.  Dr. Srinivasan’s operation is advised solely, as far as we can see, because of a diagnosis of spinal cord compression.” 

Id.  at  9.  

On April 1, 2003 Dr. Bursell responded to a letter from the employee’s attorney stating “In my opinion, the shoulder pain experienced by Ms. DeKennedy could have been referred from an undiagnosed neck injury/aggravation.”  

On April 21, 2003, the employer provided Dr. Bursell with its second “check the box” letter.  However, this time he did not mark either box.  The statement offered by the employer was:

Though I indicated on April 1, 2003, that the shoulder pain experienced by Ms. DeKennedy could have been referred pain from an undiagnosed neck injury aggravation, it is also my opinion, to a reasonable degree of certainty that it was highly unlikely that Ms. DeKennedy's shoulder pain was caused by some undiagnosed neck injury or aggravation that occurred back in August 2002.

In response, at the bottom of the page Dr. Bursell wrote:

I agree that it is unlikely that an undiagnosed neck injury was because of her shoulder pain.  It would be for to the [patient' s] treating physicians when determining whether or not this actually is the case.

(April 16, 2003 Davison Letter to Bursell with his April 21, 2003 hand written note).

On April 24, 2003, Dr. Srinivasan wrote:

On February 10, 2003, I saw the above referenced patient. Upon evaluation, it is my belief that her current symptoms relating to the spondylosis in her cervical spine are the result of an accident which occurred on 12 August 2000. Due to the degree of spinal cord compression and the duration of her symptoms, I believe that surgical intervention is the most appropriate treatment  (See April 24, 2003 Dr. Srinivasan letter.)

3.
May 6, 2003 Hearing
The employee testified both at hearing and by deposition.  She addressed her accident, treatment, symptoms, and activities.  Art Hutchinson and Abby Kramer also testified at the hearing on behalf of the employee.  Mr. Hutchinson and Ms. Kramer testified regarding the employee’s physical capacity before and after the August 12, 2000 accident.  

The employer presented by stipulation on the record, the testimony of Elisa Hitchcock, vocational rehabilitation specialist.  The parties agreed that if Ms. Hitchcok were to testify, her testimony would be that the SCODDOT
 for the employee’s job at the time of injury, Tractor Trailer Truck Driver, did not require overhead lifting and thus addressed Dr. Bursell’s concerns.  

The employer also presented the deposition testimony of Dr. Woodward.  Dr. Woodward testified that he saw the employee three times, not once during those three EME’s did she complain of neck pain.  The employee only complained of right shoulder pain.  (Woodward Dep. at 6, 7).  Dr. Woodward explained his approach to EME exams and to the employee’s in particular. He explained that when he examines someone for shoulder pain, he also examines the neck.  His examination did not indicate neck pain.  Id. at 17, 18.     He also provided his interpretation of medical records produced by other physicians and explained what those physicians meant or suggested in their chart notes.  See, e.g.,  Id. at 61.  

Dr. Bell testified telephonically.  She testified that after review of the cervical MRI, it was impossible for the patient to have the symptoms claimed.  The cervical MRI revealed that the narrowing in the spine is on the left side and therefore it does not match with right-sided symptoms.  She stated that with a reasonable degree of medical certainty, the employee’s neck does not play a roll in the employee’s physical complaints, which are right sided.  On cross-examination Dr. Bell agreed that the employee could have shoulder pain caused by the neck with no pain exhibited in the neck. Dr. Bell only  performs EME examinations in Alaska, she has no patients.  Her opinion is based upon her one examination of the employee. 

Finally, the employer presented the testimony of Wayne Willott, the employer’s investigator.   Mr. Willott conducted video taped surveillance of the employee over the course of four consecutive days. He observed the employee for 6 hours the first day, 31/2 hours the second day, about an hour each day on the third and fourth days.  Mr. Willott explained that he did not videotape the employee on the third day.  He testified that he was 50 – 100 feet away and that the employee was unaware she was being watched.  He also stated that he observed the employee partake in many activities that he was unable to tape.  For example, lift a ½ inch 3-4 foot sheet of plywood over head and split wood.  Mr. Willott attempted to narrate the videotape during the hearing.  He attempted to describe the video taped activities.

4. Employee’s Petition to Reopen the Record.
On July 9, 2003, at the Anchorage Workers’ Compensation office, the employee filed a petition to reopen the record to receive additional medical evidence and requested the Board order an SIME.  In response we issued our Interlocutory Decision and Order AWCB Case No. 03-0163 (July 16, 2003) in this matter.  In our decision we noted that one of the issues before us was whether the employee’s cervical claim arose out of her August 12, 2000 work related accident. We originally closed the record on June 17, 2003.  Subsequent to the record closing, the employee had surgery for her cervical condition.  The employee petitioned to reopen the record to consider the surgeon’s impressions and to order a second SIME. 

To provide the employer with an opportunity to respond to the employee’s request, the Board exercised its discretion under AS 23.30.155(h) and AS 23.30.135(a) and directed the parties to submit written argument on whether we should reopen the record. 

Employee’s Arguments

At the May 6, 2003 hearing, in her hearing and closing briefs the employee argued that her continuing shoulder pain and neck condition are attributable to her August 12, 2000 work accident.  The employee's claim for benefits related to her cervical condition is not barred under AS 23.30.100 because her condition arises from the August 12, 2000 work accident.  She argued that her claim is timely under AS 23.30.100(d)(1). The employee asserted that she is not medically stable; she is unable to return to her job at the time of the injury.  Therefore, the RBA abused her discretion when she determined the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  Moreover, she is a candidate for surgery to correct her cervical condition. Finally, the employee argued that the employer has not rebutted the presumption of compensability.  Alternatively, if the presumption is rebutted, the employee has met her burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that she is entitled to workers’ compensation benefits.


As to the employee’s request to submit new evidence and obtain a new SIME, she argued that because she had cervical surgery, her complaints were significant and are now ratified and confirmed. A supplemental SIME would assist the Board in determining compensability.  She urged the Board to exercise its discretion and consider new evidence concerning her physical condition.  Failure to present the evidence was not for lack of due diligence.  8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A).  Because the surgery had not taken place, the medical evidence was not available until after the record was closed.  Therefore, the new evidence should be submitted to Dr. Bloom for additional evaluation.  

Employer’s Arguments


The employer opposed the employee’s request to submit new evidence and obtain a new SIME. The employer argued that it would be improper to open the record at this late stage, Board regulations do not contemplate perpetual litigation. Reopening the record would provide the employee with an unfair advantage and violate the employer’s constitutional rights.  The employer also argued that the employee’s petition to re-open the case is simply a motion to reconsider the Board’s order closing the record.  


The employer also opposed the employee’s request for another SIME because the employee’s neck condition was already evaluated and addressed by Dr. Bloom.  The employee was aware that Dr. Srivihsan’s report contradicted the EME report.  The employee failed to request an updated SIME prior to hearing.  


The employer does not dispute that the employee incurred an injury while in the course and scope of her employment with the employer.  It is the employer's position that the employee suffered at most a shoulder injury, which is now medically stable, and which does not preclude the employee from returning to her job at the time of injury as defined by SCODDOT.  The employer relied upon the employee's conduct and activities after the accident as well as her activities documented by videotape to support its contention that the shoulder injury was very benign and at most, the employee, incurred a strain which has long since resolved.  

The employer urged the Board to assign greater weight to Dr. Woodward's opinion over any of the treating physicians or the Board's SIME physician citing to 8 AAC 45.120(k).  The employer reasoned that Dr. Woodward's reports are detailed and thorough.  Under 8 AAC 45.120(k), Dr. Srinivasan's medical opinion should be given no weight.  Accordingly, the employer concluded that the employee is medically stable and not entitled to additional TTD benefits.  Finally, because the employee has the physical capacities to return to her job at the time of injury she is not entitled to vocational rehabilitation benefits.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.   Is The Employee’s Claim For Her Cervical Condition Barred Under AS 23.30.100?

AS 23.30.100 provides in pertinent part:

(a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and the employer…(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter (1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice.

AS 23.30.105 provides in pertinent part:

(a) the right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employment and after disablement.

The burden of proof is on the employer to establish the affirmative defense of failure to file a timely claim or Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI).  Egemo v. Egemo Constr. Co., 998 P.3d 434, 438 (Alaska 2000).  Dismissal of a claim for failure to comply with a statute of limitations is a disfavored defense.  Id.  

The employer argues that the employee's claim for her cervical condition, AWCB Case No. 200302537, is time-barred because the employee did not identify a neck injury on her ROI filed October 2, 2000, AWCB Case No. 2000018455.  The employer argues that this failure was prejudicial because it was unable to obtain an MRI of the employee’s neck at the time.   We find the employer’s argument inconsistent with controlling case law and the plain language of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, AS 23.30 et. seq. (the Act).  See, e.g,  Egemo v. Egemo Constr. Co.,  998 P.3d 434 (Alaska 2000); Cogger v. Anchor House, 936 P.2d 157 (Alaska 1997); Kolkman v.Greens Creek Mining Co., 936 P.2d 150 (Alaska 1997).

It is well settled that AS 23.30.100 addresses the filing of an ROI (to provide notice of injury) and AS 23.30.105 address the filing of a claim (a complaint with the Board seeking benefits).  Egmo, supra; Cogger, supra; Kolkman, supra.  Two distinct yet related events.  We find that because the employee is alleging her cervical condition, discovered and diagnosed late 2002/early 2003, arose out of her August 12, 2000 work related accident, her cervical condition arises under the 2000 ROI, AWCB Claim No. 200018455. The employer does not dispute the timeliness of this ROI.  We conclude that because the employee alleges the cervical condition is related to her August 12, 2000 injury, it is covered under that ROI and is timely filed under AS 23.30.100(a).  

Were we to find that the employee failed to give timely notice of her cervical condition, we would conclude that under AS 23.30.100(d)(1), her ROI is not time barred.  The employer does not dispute that it had knowledge of the August 2000 accident or of the employee’s ongoing complaints.  The crux of the employer’s affirmative defense is that it was prejudiced because the employee did not identify her neck as “injured” within 30 days of her accident. 

Prejudice to the employer occurs if untimely notice impedes the employer’s ability to provide immediate medical diagnosis and treatment to minimize the seriousness of the injury or if it impedes the employer’s ability to investigate the facts surrounding the injury.  Defermo v. Municipality of Anchorage, 941 P.2d 114 (Alaska 1997).  Here, the employer has failed to persuade us that it was prejudiced.  We find nothing in the record indicating that the employee refused a cervical MRI.  The employer’s EME physician, Dr. Woodward, testified that as part of a shoulder EME, he would have examined the neck.  Therefore any prejudice to the employer is attributable to its own actions or lack thereof.  We find the employer had knowledge of the employee’s injury and we find that the employer has not been prejudiced.  Therefore, were we to find the employee’s cervical condition time barred under AS 23.30.100(a), we would find the employee’s failure to give timely notice excused under AS 23.30.100(d)(1). 

We also find that the employee filed her claim for benefits attributable to her cervical condition within two years of “discovery” and its relation to her August 12, 2000 accident.  We conclude that AWCB Claim No. 200302537 was timely filed under both AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.105 and thus is not time barred.

II.  Employee’s Petition to Reopen the Record


8 AAC 45.120(m) provides:

The board will not consider evidence or legal memoranda filed after the board closes the hearing record, unless the board, upon its motion, determines that the hearing was not completed and reopens the hearing record for additional evidence or legal memoranda.  The board will give the parties written notice of reopening the hearing record, will specify what additional documents are to be filed, and the deadline for filing the documents.  


AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.


AS 23.30.110(g) provides, in part:

An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician, which the board may require. . . .   


AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .


AS 23.30.155(h) provides, in part:

The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which payments are being made with or without an award, where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, upon receipt of notice from a person entitled 
to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

We have long considered subsections AS 23.30.095(k) and AS 23.30.110(g) to be procedural in nature, not substantive, for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage
 and Harvey v. Cook Inlet Pipe Line Co.
 Considering the broad procedural discretion granted to us in AS 23.30.135(a), AS 23.30.155(h) and 8 AAC 45.120(m), we conclude we have wide discretion to determine when to reopen the record.  Under the facts of this case, we decline to exercise our discretion to reopen the record and for what purpose.

We find the record to be extensive and well developed with the exception of one area, the work relatedness of the employee’s cervical condition.  The employee did not have a cervical MRI until after her SIME.  We find that contrary to the employer’s arguments, Dr. Bloom did not and was not asked to evaluate the employee’s cervical condition. The claim addressed by Dr. Bloom’s November 2002 SIME report addressed the employee’s shoulder. (November 5, 2000 SIME Report).  The records presented to Dr. Bloom related to the employee’s shoulder.  We find that the employee’s claim for her cervical condition was not filed until after her SIME and additional evaluation, which focused on her neck.  We conclude on the record before us, that to best ascertain the rights of the parties with respect to the employee’s cervical condition, the Board has several questions to pose to Dr. Bloom.


We direct the parties to deliver to or to arrange for the delivery of the originals and one copy of any films or MRI of the employee to our Board Designee, Workers' Compensation Officer Bruce Dalrymple, within 20 days of the date of this Interlocutory Decision and Order (D&O).  The parties are also directed to provide 2 legible copies of any radiologist reports or the results of any EMG studies to Mr. Dalrymple within 20 days of the date of our D&O.  The copies of the radiologist reports, EMG studies, films and MRIs will be filed with the Board.   No film, MRI, radiologist report, or EMG study may be dated after the date of hearing, May 6, 2003.  We direct Mr. Dalrymple to arrange the delivery of these items to Dr. Bloom, the Board’s physician, for his review and comment.
  In particular, the Board is interested in Dr. Bloom’s opinion on the employee’s cervical condition and whether its work related or the result of a degenerative condition:

1.
Is the employee’s cervical condition consistent with degenerative disk disease or her August 12, 2000 work injury?

2. Are the cervical MRI findings consistent with the employee’s complaints?  

3. Which complaints or symptoms are or are not related to the cervical findings?

4. What is the basis for your opinion?

5. Did the 8/12/00 accident aggravate, accelerate or combine with a pre-existing cervical condition to produce the need for medical treatment or disability? 

6. If so, did the aggravation, acceleration or combining with the pre-existing condition produce a temporary or permanent change in the pre-existing condition?

7. If not, can you rule out the injury as a substantial factor in the aggravation, acceleration or combining with the pre-existing condition?

8. If not, do you have an alternate cause for the employee’s cervical condition?

9. What specific additional treatment, if any, is indicated/ recommended?

10. Will this treatment help in her recovering from the injury?  On an as-needed basis, promote recovery from individual attacks caused by a chronic condition?  Limit or reduce permanent impairment? Enable the employee to return and/or continue working?

11. As limited to her cervical condition, is the employee able to work as a truck driver without any limitations or restrictions at this time?  If there are limitations or restrictions, please list them and state whether they are a result of the work related injury or other specific factors.

12. Is the employee is medically stable as to her cervical condition?  If yes, please provide a permanent partial impairment rating using the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, (5th Ed.).

13. If you had had the benefit of the cervical film and studies at the time of your November 2002 SIME of the employee, how, if any, would your SIME report have differed?

The record is developed fully on all aspects save Dr. Bloom’s opinion, with the benefit of any films, MRIs, etc., of the employee’s cervical condition.  Therefore, the Board will not accept any further EME reports, surgical reports, etc. into evidence.  Upon receipt of the SIME addendum, the parties have 10 days to notify the Board and the other party whether they intend to communicate with Dr. Bloom.  Any communication shall be in accord with 8 AAC 45.095(j). Should a party desire to cross examine Dr. Bloom, the Board is willing to hold a brief hearing for this limited purpose. Dr. Bloom may attend any such hearing telephonically.  All communication must be completed by and filed with the Board within 20 days of the date of the SIME report. The Board will accept written argument on Dr. Bloom’s report.  Briefs must be filed with the Board within 30 days of the date of the SIME report (10 days after all communication with Dr. Bloom is filed with the Board).  Briefs may not exceed 4 pages.  The parties have The Board will close the record at our first regularly scheduled hearing date thereafter at which time we will address the employee’s claims for benefits related to her cervical condition 

III.    Claims Related To  The Employee’s Right Shoulder  Complaints.


An injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he or she seeks are compensable.  AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter. . . .”  The Alaska Supreme Court has held “the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)). 


The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  “[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.”  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence, Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987), establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment, Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316, (Alaska 1981), or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.  Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991).


The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability and his or her employment.  Id. Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer’s burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence showing the disability is not work-related.  Id.  “Substantial evidence” is such relevant evidence, as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.  Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., 617 P.2d 755, 757 (Alaska 1980).  Thus, to overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.  Id.;  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation.  Veco, 693 P.2d at 869. 


In Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991), the Court identified two possible ways to overcome the presumption of compensability: (1) produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability. We defer questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer’s evidence until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).  


Once substantial evidence is presented to overcome the presumption that the claim is compensable, the presumption drops out and we proceed to the third step in the process.  In the third step the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must “induce a belief” in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

A.    Medical Benefits


Compensation under the Act includes medical benefits.  Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Ass’n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1192  (Alaska 1973).  Thus, we analyze the employee’s claim for medical benefits applying the presumption analysis. 


We find the employee introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability regarding her claim for medical benefits.  Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316.  We do not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the first stage of the presumption analysis.  DeYonge v. NANA/Marriot, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000).  Here, the employee was in a work related accident.  Since that accident her right shoulder has not resolved. Dr. Bloom, in his SIME concluded that the employee’s symptoms and difficulties with her right shoulder were a direct result of the employee’s August 12, 2000 accident.  (November 5, 2002 SIME Report at 11).   We find the employee has introduced sufficient “minimal” evidence to establish the compensability of medical benefits to her right shoulder.  Following the Court’s rationale in Meek, the presumption of compensability attaches to the employee’s claim.  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).



The employee having established a presumption of compensability, the Board will move to the second step. In this step the burden shifts to the employer to rebut the presumption of compensability.  It does so by presenting substantial evidence that either provides an alternative explanation, which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.   Because only the burden of production shifts to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation and do not weigh credibility.  Veco, 693 P.2d at 869.  

We find that Dr. Woodward has provided an alternative explanation that would exclude the employee’s August 12, 2000 work-related injury as a cause of the employee’s ongoing complaints.  He has consistently opined that: 1) there was no causal relationship between the employee’s current condition and her August 12, 2000 accident; 2) the employee’s August 12, 2000 accident can be eliminated as a reasonable possibility/substantial factor in causing the employee’s current condition or in causing a permanent aggravation of a pre-existing condition; 3) the employee did not suffer a PPI attributable to her August 12, 2000 accident; 4) the employee is medically stable, any injuries from the August 12, 2000 accident had fully resolved, 6) the employee could return to her prior work, and 4) any existing shoulder problems are age-related.   (August 24, 2001 EME Report at 8 – 10; September 6, 2001 First Addendum to EME Report; November 15, 2001 Second Addendum to EME Report; August 24, 2002 EME Report; and March 23, 2003 EME Panel Report). We find the opinions of Dr. Woodward and Dr. Bell, when viewed in isolation, are sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.  See DeYonge, 1 P.3d 90;  Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 27-28 (Alaska 1998); Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977. The employee must therefore prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that she is entitled to additional medical benefits.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1280.  


In the third step, we assess the credibility of the witnesses and determine how much weight we give the relevant pieces of evidence.  Here, the employee must induce a reasonable belief in our minds that it is more probable than not that her claim for medical benefits is compensable.


We assign greater weight to the opinions of Dr. Bloom and the employee’s treating physicians than we do to Dr. Woodward and Dr. Bell.  Giving due consideration to the EME reports, the deposition testimony of Dr. Woodward and the live testimony of Dr. Bell, we agree with Dr. Bursell’s assessment of the EME reports - that the EME reports appear to be directed at attempting to discredit any claim of injury rather than objectively reviewing history and physical examination findings, including patient history.  (December 5, 2001 Dr. Bursell Chart Note).   For example, Dr. Woodward’s comments in response to the SIME report that:  “[Dr. Bloom’s] guess that right wrist extension problem is due to a radiculopathy is not confirmed by his normal neurologic examination and as we know right wrist extension is limited by local dorsal wrist pain and not by weakness due to radiculopathy.”  


We find that the record contains many instances of objective testing indicating that the employee’s right shoulder has not resolved.  For example:

· Dr. Herring found the employee continued to exhibit a loss of range of motion and continuing pain in her right shoulder.  (March 23, 2001, Dr. Herring Chart Note). 

· After receiving an AC injection, the employee’s rotator cuff strength improved from a 5- to 5/5. (June 11, 2001 Dr. Khalfayan Chart Note).  

· Right shoulder impingement testing was positive. (September 4, 2001 Dr. Bursell Chart Note).   

· On September 23, 2001, the massage therapist noted the employee’s muscles in her right back, neck and shoulder were in a state of chronic hypertension.  (September 23, 2001 SOAP Chart).

We find, as did Dr. Bursell, that the EME physicians seem unwilling to consider the possibility that the initial diagnosis of a shoulder strain, which was expected to resolve within several months, could have been wrong.  We find that because there has been no resolution of her symptoms as expected, the initial diagnosis of a simple shoulder strain was more probable than not inaccurate.  We conclude that the employee’s medical treatment related to her right shoulder is compensable.


The employer objected to the Board considering the employee’s medical expenses under Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611, 612 (Alaska 1999).  The employee has not yet requested specific amounts for medical expenses.  If and when she does so, she has the burden of production.  Id. 


B.  Temporary Total Disability Benefits


AS 23.30.185 provides:


In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.


AS 23.30.395 defines “medical stability” as:

The date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.


The employer paid the employee TTD benefits from the date of injury August 12, 2000 up through September 7, 2001.  From that date forward, the employer has controverted TTD benefits based upon Dr. Woodward’s September 6, 2001 EME Addendum opining that the employee had reached medical stability as defined at AS 23.30.395(21).  The employer offers that as an alternative, the Board should adopt the “statement” of Dr. Bursell that the employee was medically stable as of June 13, 2002.  Dr. Bloom concluded the employee had not reached medical stability because the employee had not had the benefit of full treatment and that there is need for further investigation at the right rotator cuff and possible surgery.  


Applying the presumption analysis set forth above, we find Dr. Bloom found the employee not medically stable and unable to return to her job at the time of injury.  We attach the presumption of compensability to the employee’s claim for TTD benefits.  


Dr. Woodward has found the employee medically stable and able to return to her work at the time of injury. Dr. Woodward’s conclusion, when viewed in isolation, provides an alternative explanation that would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability.  We find the employer has submitted substantial evidence thereby rebutting the presumption of compensability.  Grainger, supra. 


As set forth above, at the third step, we weigh the evidence and determine whether the employee has proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that she is not medically stable.  The employee must induce a belief in our minds that her assertion is probably true. For the reasons set forth above, the Board gives more weight to Dr. Bloom’s opinion than Dr. Woodward’s.  We find the employer generated “statement” of Dr. Bursell lack’s indicia of reliability.  Dr. Bursell’s  “statement” that the employee was medically stable as of June 2002, was submitted as a “check the box” letter generated by counsel.  It is not a business record nor is it a sworn statement provided under penalty of perjury.   It receives minimal weight.  Based on the preponderance of the evidence in the record, we conclude the employee has not reached medical stability.  Accordingly, the employee is entitled to TTD benefits from September 7, 2001 until she is medically stable.

C.   
PPI Benefits

As set forth above, the Board has concluded that the employee has not reached medical stability. Because we find the employee was not medically stable at the time of hearing this issue is not ripe for decision. 

D. 
RBA Appeal

AS 23.30.041 provides, in part:

(e) An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job as described in the United States Department of Labor’s, “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles” for:

(1)  the employee’s job at the time of injury; or

(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within ten years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s, “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.”
We now consider whether the RBA Designee’s decision is supported by substantial evidence. See, Yahara v. Construction & Rigging, Inc., 851 P.2d 69 (Alaska 1993).  Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind, reviewing the record as a whole, might accept as adequate. Id.  If, in light of the record as a whole, we find the RBA Designee’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we will conclude the RBA Designee abused her discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the record and necessary action.


Determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the hearing.  This practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of our decisions following the hearings.  See, Kelley v. Sonic Cable Television, 3AN 89-6531 CIV (Alaska Ct. of Appeals, February 2, 1991); Quirk v. Anchorage School District, 3AN-90-4509 CIV (Alaska Ct. of Appeals, August 21, 1991).  Nevertheless, our regulation, 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), states the Board will not consider additional evidence, if the party offering that evidence has failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence. See Kin v. Norcon, AWCB Decision No. 99-0041 (March 1, 1999); Lemire v. B&R Construction, AWCB Decision No. 99-0019 (January 28, 1999); Buxton v. Cameron Corporation, AWCB Decision No. 99-0005 (January 8, 1999).  


Here, the RBA originally found the employee eligible for rehabilitation benefits on January 10, 2002.  Subsequently, she reconsidered her decision because she was unaware that the employer had controverted the employee’s benefits as to course and scope.  On January 28, 2002, the RBA reversed her decision and concluded that the employee was not eligible for re-employment benefits because her claim was controverted as to course and scope.   The employee argues the RBA abused her discretion finding the employee not eligible for reemployment benefits.  The parties dispute whether or not the employee has the physical capacity to return to her job at the time of injury.  


AS 23.30.041(e) requires strict compliance with the physical capacity description set forth in SCODOT even where claimant’s job and like jobs in the labor market require greater physical capacity than that described in that publication.  Konecky v. Camco Wireline 920 P.2d 277 (Alaska 1996).
  The parties stipulated that if Ms. Hitchcock were to testify, she would testify that that the SCODDOT
 for the employee’s job at the time of injury, Tractor Trailer Truck Driver, did not require overhead lifting.  The restriction placed on the employee by Dr. Bursell was overhead lifting, thus addressing Dr. Bursell’s concerns.  However, Dr. Bloom indicated that it was his opinion that the employee could not return to her employment at the time of injury.


Given that Dr. Bloom’s SIME report was first available after the RBA Designee’s determination, under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we find this evidence is not barred by the due diligence standard.  Accordingly, we conclude we are permitted to consider this new evidence.


We conclude there is an inconsistency between the employee’s treating physicians, the EME physicians and the SIME physician regarding whether the employee has the physical capacities to return to work as tractor trailer driver.  Consequently, because the record contains new evidence that was not previously evaluated by the RBA Designee in making her eligibility determination, we will remand this matter to the RBA Designee to consider this new evidence.

E. 
Interest and Attorney’s Fees and Costs


 AS 23.30.155 and 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 9.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation is due.  The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.  See Land & Marine Rental Company v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1192; Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).  The employee is entitled to interest from the employer on all outstanding benefits from the dates on which the compensation payments were due. 


IV
Conclusion
The parties shall proceed in accordance with this order.  The Board will address the employee’s claim for attorney’s fees and costs in our Final Decision and Order in this matter.  

ORDER

1. The employee’s shoulder complaints are attributable to the employee’s August 22, 2000 accident and are compensable under AS 23.30.095.  The employee’s claim for medical benefits is granted.

2. The employee’s claim for TTD benefits from September 7, 2001 through the date of medical stability (to be determined) is granted.

3. The employee’s claim for PPI benefits is denied without prejudice.

4. The RBA Designee’s January 28, 2002 determination finding the employee not eligible for reemployment benefits is remanded under AS 23.30.041(e).

5. The employer is ordered to pay employee appropriate interest.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 10th day of September, 2003.






ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






_________________________________                                





Rebecca C. Pauli, Designated Chairperson






_________________________________






Richard H. Behrends, Member


If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the Board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of MICHELLE DE KENNEDY employee / claimant; v. POLAR ROLLER EXPRESS, employer; / defendant and INSURANCE CO. OF STATE PA; Case No. 200018455 dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 10th day of  September, 2003.


________________________





Robin Burns, Clerk

           Shirley DeBose, Clerk

�








� Inflammation of the tendon.


� Dr. Bursell’s practice focuses on Rehabilitation and Physical Medicine.


� Magnetic Resonance Image (MRI).


� Accumulation of fluid in the joint.


� Acromioclavicular Joint.


� Increase in size or bulk, which does not involve tumor formation. 


� Inflammation of the fibrous tissues enclosing a joint. 


� Superior Labrum Anterior-Posterior.





� Second Independent Medical Evaluation.


� The record does not identify who ordered the employee’s cervical films or why.


� Abnormal immobility and fixation of the vertebra due to pathological changes in the joint or its surrounding tissue. 


� Narrowing of the neural foramina of the spine, mainly cervical and lumbosacral.


� Very common outgrowth or excrescence of bone, mainly related to age.


� United States Department of Labor’s Selected Characteristics of Occupation’s Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (SCODDOT).


� AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).


� AWCB Decision No. 98-0076 (March 26, 1998).


� If Dr. Bloom has any of these items in his possession, Mr. Dalrymple need not provide Dr. Bloom with another copy.


� United States Department of Labor’s Selected Characteristics of Occupation’s Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (SCODDOT).
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